

Bill C-75 Criminal Code and Youth Criminal Justice Act amendments

CANADIAN BAR ASSOCIATION CRIMINAL JUSTICE SECTION

September 2018

PREFACE

The Canadian Bar Association is a national association representing 36,000 jurists, including lawyers, notaries, law teachers and students across Canada. The Association's primary objectives include improvement in the law and in the administration of justice.

This submission was prepared by the Criminal Justice Section of the Canadian Bar Association, with input from the Aboriginal Law Section and the Children's Law Section, and assistance from the Advocacy Department at the CBA Office. The submission has been reviewed by the Law Reform Subcommittee and approved as a public statement of the Canadian Bar Association Criminal Justice Section.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Bill C-75 Criminal Code and Youth Criminal Justice Act amendments

I.	INT	TRODUCTION		
II.	COURT DELAYS IN CONTEXT			
III.	JUDICIAL INTERIM RELEASE			
IV.	FAILURE TO COMPLY			
V.	RO	UTINE POLICE EVIDENCE	9	
	A.	Constitutionality and Truth-seeking	10	
	B.	Section 657.01 – Unneeded, Unworkable and Likely to Cause Delays		
VI.	PR	ELIMINARY INQUIRIES	14	
VII.	(RE	E)ELECTIONS	16	
VIII.	VIDEO CONFERENCING AND TECHNOLOGY			
	A.	Technological Resources Need to Keep Pace with Law Reform	18	
	В.	Telecommunications that Produce a Writing		
IX.	OM	INIBUS LEGISLATION	20	

Χ.	PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES				
	A.	Abolishing Peremptory Challenges	21		
	B.	Challenge for Cause Process	22		
	C.	Public Confidence in the Administration of Justice	23		
	D.	Fewer than Ten Jurors	23		
	E.	Conclusion Regarding Amendments to the Jury Process	23		
XI.	RECLASSIFICATION OF OFFENCES				
	A.	Access to Justice and Section 802.1	25		
	B.	Inflationary Sentences	26		
XII.	INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE				
	A.	Intimate Partner	26		
	B.	Bail Amendments	27		
	C.	Offence of 'Choking'	28		
	D.	Abuse of an Intimate Partner as an Aggravating Feature on Sentencing	29		
	E.	Creating a "Supermax" Penalty	29		
XIII.	VIC	TIM FINE SURCHARGE	30		
XIV.	HU	HUMAN TRAFFICKING3			
XV.	YOUTH CRIMINAL JUSTICE ACT				
	A.	Youth Records	33		
XVI.	СО	NCLUSION	34		

Bill C-75 Criminal Code and Youth Criminal Justice Act amendments

I. INTRODUCTION

The Canadian Bar Association Criminal Justice Section (CBA Section) appreciates the opportunity to comment on Bill C-75, *An Act to amend the Criminal Code, the Youth Criminal Justice Act and other Acts and to make consequential amendments to other Acts.* Bill C-75 is omnibus legislation that represents the federal government's response to *R. v. Jordan*,¹ the leading case on court delays. Bill C-75 also includes reforms unrelated to court delay, including the abolition of peremptory challenges in the jury selection process and changes to how cases involving domestic violence are handled and sentenced.

The CBA Section recognizes that the complex problem of court delays requires a multi-faceted solution. Some of Bill C-75's proposals are commendable and will work to reduce delays in the system without compromising the constitutional rights of people on trial. Examples include the creation of a diversionary regime for certain administration of justice of offences and changes to the bail process. These reforms are logical, consistent with existing case law and represent an empirically-based response to the question of delay.

Unfortunately, other proposals, including curtailing preliminary inquiries and introducing "routine police evidence" by way of affidavit, are misguided in their attempts at streamlining the court process. They would not address the real causes of delay, and would simultaneously sacrifice important procedural protections. The introduction of police evidence by way of affidavit, in particular, is likely to be subject to serious constitutional scrutiny, and would only exacerbate court delays with additional *Charter* litigation and pre-trial applications. Nearly abolishing preliminary inquiries, as proposed by Bill C-75, would also eliminate a valuable tool both defence counsel and prosecutors use to resolve and otherwise eliminate serious cases from the system. Put simply, these two changes are not evidence-based, and would exacerbate, rather than alleviate, the problem of court delays.

In this submission, the CBA Section also offers its perspective on other proposed reforms. Briefly, we:

encourage further study of peremptory challenges, urging caution about the current proposal
to eliminate one of the few tools racialized and Indigenous people have to ensure a
representative jury. We believe that the proposed changes may run directly against the stated
objective of addressing racial bias in the system

-

¹ 2016 SCC 27.

- support the increased discretion that would result from amending the victim fine surcharge regime, most of the proposed changes to the reclassification of offences, and amendments related to promoting greater use of technology in the courtroom
- oppose the inclusion of a rebuttable presumption in human trafficking cases
- suggest changes to the (re)election system to promote greater efficiency in murder cases
- recognize the importance of redefining intimate partner violence, but oppose some of the proposed reforms to the bail and sentencing phases of these cases

II. COURT DELAYS IN CONTEXT

The majority judgment in *Jordan* identified a "culture of complacency" in the criminal justice system and called for action. Public reaction to the judgment was swift, and grew after a small number of murder cases were stayed in the aftermath of the ruling. Media, politicians and commentators have weighed in on the issue of delay and suggested an array of reforms.

The CBA Section generally supports measures to streamline the criminal justice system. However, expediency cannot supersede trial fairness and speed cannot supersede the truth-seeking function of the process. Reforms must recognize the importance of constitutional and procedural protections that have proven their worth over decades. These protections prevent wrongful convictions and otherwise promote confidence in the administration of justice. Any changes to the justice system should be evidence-based, rather than influenced by the outcry of those unfamiliar with the system and the delicate balance of constitutional tenets it represents.

The reality is that the vast majority of cases do not run afoul of the *Jordan* ceilings (i.e. 18 months for cases tried in provincial court and 30 months for cases tried in superior court). The average criminal case in 2015/2016 took 127 days to complete (approximately 4 months).² 99% of all criminal cases are tried in provincial court. In 2015/2016, 94% of those cases were completed within the *Jordan* timelines, even without taking into account the deductions permitted in *Jordan* (i.e. defence delay, waiver, exceptional and discrete events).³ In other words, while court delays remain an ongoing concern for those involved in the justice system, the problem may not be as critical as the public has been led to believe from recent media coverage.

Certainly, in the nearly two years since *Jordan*, there have continued to be applications for stays of proceedings because of delay. However, this is not near the fallout that occurred after the decision in

Justice Canada, *JustFacts: Jordan, Statistics Related to Delay in the Criminal Justice System*, December 2017 at 1.

³ *Ibid.* at 2-3.

*R. v. Askov*⁴, when approximately 47,000 cases were stayed in Ontario alone in just under eleven months.⁵ In the six months following the *Jordan* decision, there were approximately 51 stays of proceedings because of delay.⁶ A more recent study showed that in the 12 months after *Jordan*, 204 stay applications were granted across Canada, with 333 others being dismissed.⁷

To put those numbers into context, over 328,000 criminal cases were completed in the year it took Mr. Jordan's case to move from the British Columbia Court of Appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada (i.e. from 2014 to 2015).8 As for the murder cases stayed after the *Jordan* decision, nearly all have been overturned on appeal.9

Some questions about the timelines set out in *Jordan* are also emerging. For example, in *R. v. J.M.*¹⁰, Judge Paciocco (as he then was) held that youth cases, due to their unique circumstances, should be adjudicated using a ceiling of 12 to 15 months.¹¹ In *York (Regional Municipality) v. Tomovski*,¹² the Court held that the *Jordan* timelines should not apply to provincial ticket offences, opting instead for a ceiling of 13 to 15 months.¹³ In *R. v. MacIsaac*,¹⁴ the Ontario Court of Appeal held that the presumptive ceilings were too long in the circumstances of a retrial and should not be followed in that context.

Even in *Jordan* itself, Cromwell J. (in dissent) highlighted the absence of any evidence to support the ceilings set by the majority. He characterized the ceilings as illogical and concluded that it would be unwise to follow them, as they were "so high they risk being meaningless" in most cases.¹⁵

⁵ *R. v. Morin*, [1992] 1 S.C.R. 771 at 779.

⁴ [1990] 2 S.C.R. 1199.

See, Jessica Patrick, "Six Months of *Jordan*: A Statistical Overview" (2017) 35:2 CR at 2. This figure represents the number of stays reported in decisions that were publicly available to the author. Undoubtedly there were more stays of proceedings granted as a result of section 11(b) violations that were not reported. It is indisputable however that there have been nowhere near the number of stays following *Jordan* as compared to what happened after the *Askov* decision in 1990-1991.

Matthew Gourlay, "After Jordan: The Fate of the Speedy Trial and Prospects for Systemic Reform" (2017) 36:2 Advocates' Journal at 22.

⁸ Justice Canada, *JustFacts, Preliminary Inquiries*, June 2017 at 1.

For example, see *R. v. Regan*, 2016 ABQB 561; 2018 ABCA 55 (CanLII) and *R. v. Picard* 2016 ONSC 7061; 2017 ONCA 692 (CanII).

¹⁰ 2017 ONCJ 4.

¹¹ *R. v. J.M.*, 2017 ONCJ 4 at paras. 112-145.

¹² 2017 ONCJ 785.

¹³ York (Regional Municipality) v. Tomovski, 2017 ONCJ 785 at paras. 8, 123-157.

¹⁴ 2018 ONCA 650 at paras. 23-28.

lordan, supra, note 1 at paras. 274-281.

These comments and statistics raise concerns that *Jordan* may have been decided without a complete factual record. For this reason, we suggest caution be exercised in developing government policy based on the decision and its political fallout.

Careful study is needed to determine whether all aspects of the system require reform to mitigate delay, and even where reform is possible, whether the price of expediency is worth the cost to fair trial interests and other important values. Some balancing of interests is required to ensure that useful tools which may or may not contribute to delay are not hastily cast aside in the rush to have speedier trials.

III. JUDICIAL INTERIM RELEASE

The CBA Section supports many of the amendments to the bail regime proposed in Bill C-75. They will lead to more expedient hearings while being consistent with existing case law and constitutional concerns, including the presumption of innocence and the right to reasonable bail under section 11(e) of the *Charter*.

As an added benefit, many of the proposed reforms will address the increasing rate of pre-trial incarceration, a troubling trend that has been statistically confirmed. Between 2005 and 2015, the number of days people in custody spent awaiting trial increased by 29% in Ontario, 33% in British Columbia, and up to 82% in some of the territories. A recent study also established that the number of people awaiting trial in custody has more than tripled since 1979, even though crime rates have declined since that time. Since 2005, more people have been held in remand while legally presumed innocent (or at least unsentenced) than offenders serving custodial sentences following a conviction. Put another way, for more than a decade, more people have been in jail awaiting trial than those serving a sentence. As the Supreme Court of Canada recently affirmed, this trend is inconsistent with the presumption of innocence and the right to reasonable bail in the modern age. 18

Supra, note 2, at 4.

¹⁷ Cheryl Webster, "Broken Bail" in Canada: How We Might Go About Fixing It" (Ottawa: Justice Canada, 2016) at 1-2. See also, K. Beatty, A. Solecki and K. Morton Bourgon, *Police and Judicial Detention and Release Characteristics: Data from the Justice Effectiveness Study* (Ottawa: Research and Statistics Division, Justice Canada, 2013) at 5.

¹⁸ *R. v. Antic*, 2017 SCC 27 at paras. 64-67.

Relying too heavily on pre-trial detention also puts tremendous pressure on the system and society as a whole. In her recent report entitled "Broken Bail' in Canada: How We Might Go About Fixing It", Cheryl Webster described in detail the far-reaching impacts of this trend.¹⁹

Bill C-75 would take meaningful steps towards rectifying these problems. For example, sections 493.1 and 515(2.01) codify the "restraint" and "ladder" principles, recently reaffirmed in *R. v. Antic.*²⁰ These sections explicitly direct the officer, justice or judge to give primary consideration to releasing the person at the earliest reasonable opportunity and on the least onerous conditions appropriate in the circumstances. The section also directs that conditions imposed be "reasonably practicable for the accused to comply with." Much of the content of section 493.1 has already been recognized in case law, but codifying it will send a clear message that pre-trial detention should be the exception, not the rule.

Similarly, section 493.2 will require consideration of the overrepresentation of Indigenous people on trial, as well as other vulnerable populations overrepresented and disadvantaged in the criminal justice system. This, much like section 718.2(e), should operate to reduce the number of people detained in custody, with a particular focus on individuals traditionally marginalized by the system. Section 493.2 is also consistent with several cases which have commented on the over-incarceration of Indigenous peoples, the mentally ill and certain racialized groups.²¹

The CBA Section also supports sections 515(2.02) and 515(2.03) which explicitly discourage use of cash deposits and sureties. Several judgments and reports have commented on the overreliance on surety bail as a form of release, widely criticized as undermining the presumption of innocence and the right to reasonable bail.²² Overreliance on sureties is also responsible for unnecessary delays in the system, as judges frequently require *viva voce* evidence from proposed sureties and others. These hearings often resemble trials and may include direct and cross-examinations of police officers, affiants and sometimes even the detainee.²³ Such practices have been particularly harmful to the Indigenous community, the poor and other marginalized people who are disadvantaged in obtaining a suitable surety.²⁴ The amendments in Bill C-75 will likely alleviate some of these issues.

Supra, note 17, "Broken Bail" at 2-3.

Supra, note 18.

²¹ R. v. Jackson, 2018 ONSC 2527.

Antic, supra, note 18, para. 65; R. v. Mirza, 2009 ONCA 732 at para. 47; R. v. Tunney, 2018 ONSJ 961 at paras. 30-35, 39-42, 46, 50-53.

²³ *Tunney, ibid.*, at paras. 30-35, 39-42, 46, 50-53.

Supra, note 17, "Broken Bail" at 6-7.

The CBA Section supports other amendments in Bill C-75 to encourage a more streamlined bail process, including clarifying the variance of release orders by consent (sections 502 and 519.1), standardizing the evidence of proposed sureties (section 515.1), and instituting a diversionary regime for breach allegations (sections 495.1, 496 and 523.1).

Expanding police powers to release an accused on arrest should also reduce the number of bail hearings (sections 498, 501, 503). However, going forward, Crown counsel may increasingly delay charges to prepare disclosure or for further investigation, so as not to engage the *Jordan* timelines (triggered by laying a charge). More people will likely spend more time on police-imposed conditions between arrest and charge approval. It is already common for a person to be given an appearance notice for a date many months in the future. Police should be better trained about not imposing excessive conditions because of an unjustified concern for liability or public safety. Reducing conditions imposed on arrestees would also reduce the need for bail variation hearings as the file progresses.

Better police training is particularly important because police officers tend to impose more (and stricter) release conditions than justices or judges, a practice which Bill C-75 and the *Antic* decision clearly discourage. A recent study showed that this trend actually *diminishes* the likelihood of compliance with bail, even though people released by the police have better records than those ultimately released by a judge in court.²⁵

IV. FAILURE TO COMPLY

Administration of justice offences consume a disproportionate amount of court time. In 2015-2016, 23% of all court cases concerned these types of offences - nearly 78,000 court matters. Almost half of those cases included an allegation of breach of bail.²⁶ Between 1998 and 2013, the percentage of people whose *most serious* offence was an administration of justice charge more than doubled.²⁷

Bill C-75 would introduce a diversionary regime for certain failures to comply with court orders (i.e. breaches of bail and failures to appear) where the breach did not cause property damage, economic loss or physical or emotional harm to a victim. The police or prosecutor would have the option in these circumstances to divert the person charged to a judicial referral hearing under section 523.1. If,

²⁵ Supra, note 17, Beatty et al, at 4, 10-11, 14, 15, 20-21, 23.

Supra, note 2 at 5.

Supra, note 17, "Broken Bail" at 8.

at the hearing, the person was found to have breached the order (determined on a balance of probabilities), the court could

- take no action
- re-release the person on a new bail order, or
- detain the person if cause has been shown under the factors set out in section 515(10).

Once a determination is made at a judicial referral hearing, any existing charges related to the failure to comply would be dismissed. If no charge had been laid, the Crown would be statute-barred from laying one.

The CBA Section supports the proposed regime and the intent behind it. If used, it will have a clear impact on delay, as it will reduce the number of administration of justice offences in the system, particularly in jurisdictions where the police are responsible for charge approval. Crown counsel would have the option to eliminate these cases in appropriate circumstances, alleviating the pressure they put on the system.

We recommend the following changes to further improve the proposal:

1. Clarify section 523.1(3)

The diversionary regime set out in section 523.1 is not available for all breach allegations. It cannot be used unless the failure to comply "did not cause a victim physical or emotional harm, property damage or economic loss" (section 523.1(3)).

The wording of this section is somewhat ambiguous. It is unclear whether a person would be disqualified if the breach caused *any* property damage or economic loss, or whether the property damage or economic loss must be *related to a victim*. The Bill's *Charter Statement*²⁸ suggests the provision is to be interpreted with the former meaning, but this remains uncertain. The disqualification should be reworded for greater clarity if it is retained in the Bill.²⁹

2. Remove the "emotional harm" disqualifier

The CBA Section is concerned that people would be disqualified from the diversionary regime because their failure to comply caused a victim "emotional harm". The term is vague and unfamiliar to the criminal law, outside the victim impact statement regime. It is also purely subjective to the victim's state of mind, raising concerns about its consistent application.

http://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/csj-sjc/pl/charter-charte/c75.html.

We note however that the same ambiguity is not found in the French version of the Bill.

Disqualifying people due to emotional harm seems contrary to the intent of reducing the number of low-level administration of justice offences in the system. Consider the following example:

Mr. Smith is an alcoholic charged with assaulting his long-time friend, Mr. Jones. Mr. Smith is released on conditions that he not drink or contact Mr. Jones in any way. Mr. Smith is distraught with the breakdown of the relationship with his friend and begins drinking after his release. One night, he calls Mr. Jones to apologize. The call does not go well once Mr. Jones realizes that Mr. Smith has been drinking. Mr. Jones reports the call to the police, explaining that he is emotionally upset over the phone call and Mr. Smith's continued drinking. Mr. Smith is charged with breaching the terms of his bail by drinking and contacting Mr. Jones.

Similar breaches occur in domestic files, where a spouse drinks and/or contacts a child or partner in violation of conditions. These breaches undoubtedly cause emotional harm, particularly when the victim and the person accused are in a close relationship. However, the emotional harm is subjective and may be transitory, and the benefit of prosecuting an alcoholic who breaches a no-alcohol condition is questionable. This type of case would benefit from a judicial referral hearing, where conditions could be reworded, or the person detained if their conduct merited that response.

Also, there is no criminal offence of causing "emotional harm" so that should not form the basis for disqualifying someone from an important diversionary regime that would benefit both the individual and the system as a whole. In our view, the proposed legislation should not unnecessarily interfere with the Crown's discretion to use this diversionary regime in appropriate circumstances, as doing so would defeat the purpose of the regime.

3. Remove the "economic loss" and "property damage" disqualifiers

For many of the same reasons, the CBA Section recommends removing the "economic loss" and "property damage" disqualifiers. People often cause minor economic loss or property damage during a breach of conditions (e.g. breaking a glass while arguing with someone a person is prohibited from contacting).

Crown counsel can be relied upon to decide when economic loss or property damage should disqualify someone from the benefit of the diversionary regime. The Crown is also able to charge individuals separately with theft, mischief or other offences if the economic loss or property damage is significant. Crown may also elect to proceed with the breach of bail charge. We see no need to limit the Crown's discretion as proposed.

4. Encourage judicial referral hearings

The diversionary regime is to be used solely at the Crown's discretion, so it may be questionable whether this regime would be used at all, given the availability of section 524 of the *Criminal Code* when a person breaches conditions of release.

Section 523.1 clearly aims to reduce delay in the system overall, but this rationale may not be immediately apparent in individual cases. The CBA Section recommends that federal Crown policy manuals be amended to encourage the use of judicial referral hearings. This would ensure the purpose of the regime is observed, and hopefully encourage provincial and territorial counterparts to follow suit.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

- 1) The CBA Section recommends clarifying the language of section 523.1(3) to ensure that breaches unrelated to the victim are not disqualified from proceeding to a judicial referral hearing.
- 2) The CBA Section recommends that Crown counsel policy manuals be amended to encourage the use of judicial referral hearings under section 523.1.
- 3) The CBA Section recommends amending section 523.1(3) to remove the disqualification due to "emotional harm," "economic loss," and "property damage".

V. ROUTINE POLICE EVIDENCE

Bill C-75 would permit the introduction of "routine police evidence" by way of affidavit or solemn declaration. Routine police evidence is broadly defined in section 657.01(7) and may include evidence of any police officer related to:

- (a) gathering evidence and making observations;
- (b) analyzing, preserving or otherwise handling evidence;
- (c) identifying or arresting an accused or otherwise interacting with an accused; or
- (d) other routine activities similar to those set out in paragraphs (a) to (c) that the police officer undertook in the course of their duties.

The definition of "police officer" is also broad and includes any "officer, constable or other person employed for the preservation and maintenance of the public peace."

In determining whether to permit a party to enter routine police evidence by way of affidavit, *and* whether to permit cross-examination of the witness, the court is to take into account the "interests of justice", including the factors in section 657.01(2):

- (a) the nature of the proceedings in which the evidence is sought to be received by affidavit or solemn declaration;
- (b) the extent to which that evidence is central or peripheral to the issue before the court;
- (c) whether and the extent to which that evidence is expected to be contested;
- (d) the accused's right to make full answer and defence;
- (e) the importance of promoting a fair and efficient trial; and
- (f) any other factor that the court considers relevant.

In practice, we expect that section 657.01 would allow the Crown to call virtually any aspect of a police officer's evidence by affidavit. It would then be up to the person on trial to give notice of intent to object to the procedure or request the attendance of the witness for cross-examination. Presumably, the person would then be required to justify calling the witness, based on the factors in section 657.01(2), likely requiring the defence to expose its strategy before calling the witness. If the person on trial could not persuade the court, no cross-examination would be permitted.

The CBA Section opposes the introduction of section 657.01 in its entirety. In stark contrast to other amendments in Bill C-75, section 657.01 is inconsistent with existing case law, does not appear to be connected to any empirical study, and is likely to exacerbate, rather than alleviate problems of delay. We believe the section would also be vulnerable to challenge under sections 7 and 11(d) of the *Charter*.

A. Constitutionality and Truth-seeking

Cross-examination is vital to the search for truth, and the right to cross-examine is a principle of fundamental justice enshrined in section 7 of the *Charter*. Wilson, J. confirmed this point in *R. v. Potvin*³⁰ nearly 30 years ago. More recently, in *R. v. Lyttle*, ³¹ the Court explained why the right to cross-examine must be vigorously protected:

[41] As mentioned at the outset, the right of an accused to cross-examine prosecution witnesses without significant and unwarranted constraint is an essential component of the right to make a full answer and defence...

[42] In *R. v. Osolin*, [1993] 4 S.C.R. 595, Cory J. reviewed the relevant authorities and, at p. 663, explained why cross-examination plays such an important role in the adversarial process, particularly, though of course not exclusively, in the context of a criminal trial:

There can be no question of the importance of cross-examination. It is of essential importance in determining whether a witness is credible. Even with the most honest witness cross-examination can provide the means to explore the frailties of the testimony. For example, it can demonstrate a witness's weakness of sight or hearing. It can establish that the existing weather conditions may have limited the ability of a witness to observe, or that medication taken by the witness would have distorted vision or hearing. Its importance cannot be denied. It is the ultimate means of demonstrating truth and of testing veracity. Cross-examination must be permitted so that an accused can make full answer and defence. The opportunity to cross-examine witnesses is fundamental to providing a fair trial to an accused. This is an old and well-established principle that is closely linked to the presumption of innocence....

³⁰ [1989] 1 S.C.R. 525.

³¹ [2004] 1 S.C.R. 193.

[44] The right of cross-examination must therefore be jealously protected and broadly construed...

We believe that any law that limits the right to cross-examine would be vulnerable to a *Charter* challenge, and certainly, section 657.01 limits that right. A comparison to other sections which have sought to limit cross-examination may assist in understanding the problems with section 657.01.

Section 715.1, for example, permits a judge to allow into evidence a videotaped statement of a victim or other witness who was under the age of 18 at the time of the offence. The video recording must be made within a reasonable time after the alleged offence and the victim or witness must, *while testifying*, adopt the contents of the video recording. The person on trial is then permitted to cross-examine the witness in the normal course.

Section 715.1 was challenged as an infringement to the right to a fair trial and right to face the accuser. It was also argued that the section contravened the principles underlying the hearsay rule (a complaint which could also be made about the proposed section 657.01). In *R. v. D.O.L.*, ³² the Supreme Court of Canada upheld the constitutionality of section 715.1, but only because of its narrow application and other procedural protections noticeably absent from section 657.01. The Court recognized that section 715.1 was supported by study showing that the quality and reliability of a child's testimony is enhanced in a smaller, more intimate environment outside of the courtroom. The Court also considered that video-recording shows how the witness was questioned during the interview. Above all, the Court placed emphasis on the requirement of cross-examination at trial:

Reliability arises from the presence of the child at trial, the adoption under oath of her videotaped statements, the opportunity to observe the child in the videotape and in court and the accused's ability to cross-examine the child.

Unlike child sex assault victims (who are afforded fewer protections under section 715.1 than those proposed under section 657.01), police officers are not vulnerable witnesses subject to fear, shame or pressure. They are trained adults who understand that testifying is a typical part of their occupation. In fact, the pressure of a trial may actually encourage police witnesses to be more forthcoming. Unlike section 715.1, the procedure in proposed section 657.01 would actually diminish the court's ability to get at the truth.

Other procedural protections related to section 715.1 are also absent in proposed section 657.01. For example, there will be no contemporaneous video recording of the police witness creating the

affidavit under section 657.01. In *R. v. K.G.B.*,³³ Chief Justice Lamer explained the significance of a contemporaneous recording of a prior statement and its potential impact on the ability to assess the declarant's credibility and reliability:³⁴

Proponents of the orthodox rule emphasize the many verbal and non-verbal cues which triers of fact rely upon in order to assess credibility. When the witness is on the stand, the trier can observe the witness's reaction to questions, hesitation, degree of commitment to the statement being made, etc. Most importantly, and subsuming all of these factors, the trier can assess the relationship between the interviewer and the witness to observe the extent to which the testimony of the witness is the product of the investigator's questioning. Such subtle observations and cues cannot be gleaned from a transcript, read in court in counsel's monotone, where the atmosphere of the exchange is entirely lost.

Under section 657.01, the trier of fact (and the person accused) will not know much if anything about how the affidavit was created. The questions asked of the officer in preparation of the affidavit will be unknown, and the officer's reaction to the questions and demeanour in answering them will be lost.

In these ways, section 657.01 directly infringes the right to cross-examine and the right to a fair trial.³⁵ While section 657.01 allows for the possibility of cross-examination, it is not mandatory. The fact that the person on trial may have to reveal aspects of his or her defence to justify calling police witnesses may be a separate violation of the rights to remain silent and be presumed innocent. Indeed, requiring a justification for witnesses to be called at trial smacks of reversing the burden of proof and is otherwise inconsistent with basic principles underlying our system.³⁶

Section 657.01 would also interfere with the truth-seeking function of the trial process. Both direct and cross-examination of police officers is vital to the trier of fact in assessing many issues at trial. Police officers are the witnesses most heavily relied on to collect evidence in criminal cases, particularly in cases without a readily discernible complainant (e.g. drug offences, administration of justice offences). Many trials could theoretically be run solely on paper if section 657.01 were enacted. This runs contrary to the goal of pursuing the truth.

The Supreme Court of Canada in R. v. Darrach commented on the value of cross-examination on affidavits: 37

³³ [1993] 1 S.C.R. 740.

³⁴ R. v. K.G.B., [1993] 1 S.C.R. 740 at 767-768, 781, 787, 792-794.

³⁵ *Ibid.* at 779.

³⁶ *R. v. J.Z.S.*, 2008 BCCA 401 at paras. 36, 49, 55.

³⁷ 2000 SCC 46.

The Crown's right to cross-examine on the affidavit under s. 276 is essential to protect the fairness of the trial. Cross-examination is required to enable the trial judge to decide relevance by assessing the affiant's credibility and the use to which he intends to put the evidence. (emphasis added)

Judges cannot assess the nuances, tone and demeanour of a witness through affidavits. More importantly, the absence of the witness deprives the court of information that could be revealed by cross-examination, a point highlighted by the Court in *Lyttle*:

- [1] ...At times, there will be *no other way* to expose falsehood, to rectify error, to correct distortion or to elicit vital information that would otherwise remain forever concealed.
- [2] That is why the right of an accused to cross-examine witnesses for the prosecution without significant and unwarranted constraint is an essential component of the right to make full answer and defence. [emphasis in original]

B. Section 657.01 – Unneeded, Unworkable and Likely to Cause Delays

The CBA Section is unaware of any statistics or studies that suggest the proposal in section 657.01 is required to alleviate delay, or that the introduction of "routine" evidence needs reform for some other reason. Truly routine police evidence is already admitted on a daily basis by way of admissions. Unrepresented people on trial or counsel who unreasonably refuse to make admissions are often dealt with swiftly by the courts, particularly considering *Jordan* and its commentary respecting counsel's duty to ensure trial efficiency. Indeed, we expect that litigation surrounding the use of section 657.01 would take up more court and preparation time than simply calling the routine witnesses to testify in the first place.

Other practical problems would arise if section 657.01 is enacted. If there is a dispute as to the accuracy of an affidavit, would the lawyer who drafted it (likely the prosecutor) then be subject to a subpoena? If the person on trial testifies and contradicts a police affidavit, is that a violation of the *Browne v. Dunn* rule? Will the Crown be able to call the police witness in rebuttal, despite have chosen to rely on section 657.01? How is a trier of fact to weigh the evidence of a police affidavit if it conflicts with *viva voce* evidence called by the defence? How will juries treat a police affidavit? These unresolved questions will lead to further delays and litigation.

In sum, section 657.01 will not address the problem of court delay. To the contrary, it will encourage fewer admissions and more pre-trial applications for disclosure and the right to cross-examine. We also expect the constitutionality of the proposal will attract serious scrutiny.

RECOMMENDATION:

4) The CBA recommends that section 657.01 (Clause 278) and all amendments related to it be omitted from Bill C-75.

VI. PRELIMINARY INQUIRIES

The CBA Section supports retaining preliminary inquiries. As lawyers who practice in Canada's criminal courts on a daily basis, we know the practical value they provide to the criminal justice system. We recently shared this experience with the Justice Minister.³⁸

The proposal in Bill C-75 to restrict preliminary inquiries to offences with a maximum sentence of life imprisonment will not reduce court delays and will negatively impact the criminal justice system. Any connection between court delays and the preliminary inquiry is speculative at best.

More specifically, we offer the following points which militate against the proposal:

- 1) **Statistics show preliminary inquiries are not the problem:** recent research shows that only 25% of eligible cases opt for a preliminary inquiry; the proportion of cases with a preliminary inquiry does not exceed 5% of the overall caseload in any part of Canada; at most, 2% of all court appearances are used for preliminary inquiries; and the vast majority of preliminary inquiries take two days or less.³⁹
- 2) Unnecessary preliminary inquiries have already been significantly curtailed: where it appears that a preliminary inquiry would lead to delay, several tools are available. The Crown can elect direct indictment or proceed based on witness statements and other documents (section 540 of the *Criminal Code*); the parties can be required to focus the hearing on relevant issues (sections 536.3–536.5); and, the judge can curtail cross-examination if abusive, repetitive or otherwise inappropriate (section 537(1.1)).
- 3) **Preliminary inquiries mitigate court delays:** examination of witnesses at a preliminary inquiry can avoid the need to call those witnesses later in a *voir dire* at trial.

Preliminary inquiries also provide a valuable preview of the case for both Crown and defence counsel. Prosecutors can then eliminate weak cases and defence counsel can then encourage early and timely guilty pleas where warranted.⁴⁰

CBA Section letters to Justice Minister Jody Wilson-Raybould (Ottawa: CBA, March/April 2017).

Cheryl M. Webster and Howard H. Bebbington, "Why Re-open the Debate on the Preliminary Inquiry? Some Preliminary Empirical Observations" (2013) 55(4) Canadian Journal of Criminology and Criminal Justice 513 http://ow.ly/znQR309KTWW.

For example, a recent study of Legal Aid cases in Manitoba showed that between 2014 and 2016, only 96 out of 12,397 cases in the system elected to have a preliminary inquiry. In those 96 cases, 72 were disposed of after the preliminary inquiry, with only 23 continuing to a trial. That is nearly a 75% clearance rate for cases that included a preliminary inquiry.

4) **Eliminating the preliminary inquiry will not reduce stays of proceedings:** the *Jordan* time limits include the time needed to conduct a preliminary inquiry. Existing *Jordan* time limits would almost certainly be reduced to account for the elimination of preliminary inquiries. This may imperil cases that would have survived the two-stage analysis in *Jordan*.

Restricting preliminary inquiries to offences punishable by life imprisonment is arbitrary, as such offences often not do not result in a lengthy period of imprisonment. Offences punishable by life imprisonment include:

- trafficking cocaine;
- breaking and entering into a dwelling-house;
- robbery; and
- mischief which endangers life.

In contrast, people charged with offences carrying mandatory minimum sentences would not be entitled to a preliminary inquiry. For example, trafficking firearms and possessing child pornography carry significant mandatory minimum sentences and other serious collateral consequences, although the maximum sentence is not life imprisonment. Other serious offences would also be ineligible for a preliminary inquiry merely because the maximum sentence is not life imprisonment, including aggravated assault, terrorism-related offences, and criminal organization-related offences.

The Justice Minister has justified the proposed amendment, in part, as a way to shield vulnerable complainants from having to testify twice. But, the proposal would not assist complainants in cases of attempted murder, kidnapping, aggravated sexual assault with a firearm, and aggravated sexual assault of a person under 16, to name a few examples. In this way, Bill C-75 arbitrarily protects some complainants, but not others.

Without preliminary inquiries, trials will be derailed by last minute applications that could have been canvassed at a preliminary inquiry. Examples include third-party records applications, section 278.3 applications in sexual offence cases and section 276 applications. As a practical example, consider a complainant in a sexual assault case testifying during the trial to having gone for counselling or keeping a journal about the alleged offence – matters that were not canvassed in any prior police statement. This would prompt the defence to bring an application mid-trial for production of these items. For a jury case, especially, this would derail the trial, and may even result in a mistrial. Had there been a preliminary inquiry, these issues would have been resolved before trial, in the absence of

the jury. This is just one example of how the preliminary inquiry contributes to the smooth functioning of the criminal justice system.

For these reasons, we oppose curtailing preliminary inquiries as proposed in Bill C-75. However, should the move to limit preliminary inquiries proceed, we suggest the following alternative. In addition to offences punishable by imprisonment for life, preliminary inquiries should also be available:

- a) where both parties consent; or
- b) where the court is satisfied that it is in the interests of justice to hold a preliminary inquiry, having regard to the following factors:
 - i. the nature and seriousness of the charge(s), including the potential sentence arising from a conviction;
 - ii. the age and vulnerability of any witnesses providing evidence at a preliminary inquiry;
 - iii. the issues to be decided at the preliminary inquiry, including whether or not committal is in issue;
 - iv. the length and complexity of the case;
 - v. the length of the preliminary inquiry proposed and whether or not a preliminary inquiry would cause undue delay;
 - vi. whether or not alternative mechanisms for receiving the evidence are available (for example, through use of a discovery hearing).

RECOMMENDATION:

5) The CBA Section recommends that eligibility for preliminary inquiries remain unchanged. In the alternative, if amended, preliminary inquiries should remain available where the parties consent, where a preliminary inquiry would be in the interests of justice having regard to a series of factors, and/or where the maximum penalty is life imprisonment.

VII. (RE)ELECTIONS

Bill C-75 proposes several changes to the (re)election procedures in the *Criminal Code*, many related to the proposal to limit preliminary inquiries. To address court delays, the CBA Section supports amending sections 473 and 561 to allow for more judge-alone trials without consent of the Crown.

Currently, to have a judge-alone trial in a case involving a charge of murder, the person on trial must obtain the consent of the Attorney General under section 473 of the *Criminal Code*. This is one of the few exceptions to the right to elect or re-elect the mode of trial on charges carrying five or more years' imprisonment (section 11(f) of the *Charter*).

Crown consent to judge-alone trials is exercised differently across the country, usually pursuant to local policy manuals. In British Columbia, for example, the general Crown practice is to consent to a timely re-election, but this does not seem to be the practice in Ontario. There is an uneven playing field for accused people depending on where they happened to be charged.

Judge-alone murder cases are more efficient than jury trials on murder charges, which are among the lengthiest and most inefficient cases in the criminal justice system. Jury trials usually involve repeating testimony heard on *voir dires*, and additional motions to protect trial fairness (e.g. to exclude inflammatory evidence or evidence of the accused's discreditable conduct).

In 2015/2016, it took an *average* of 471 days to complete a murder case. This was a 16% increase over the previous year, even though 38% fewer murder cases were heard in 2015/2016. In British Columbia, where Crown consent to judge-alone trials is more common, the median time from first appearance to conclusion in Superior Court was less than 300 days, one of the lowest rates in the country.⁴¹

In the post-*Jordan* era, these statistics should have significant import when determining public policy. Any measure to streamline the process in superior courts ought to be seriously considered, particularly *where it does not compromise the rights of the person on trial*. Reforming sections 473 and 561 may accord with the "right" to waive a jury trial under section 11(f) of the *Charter*.⁴²

In sum, reforming sections 473 and 561 would bring greater uniformity in the way murder cases are dealt with across the country, and promote efficiency in prosecuting these serious matters.

Similar considerations apply to whether Crown consent should be required for re-election of a trial before a provincial court judge after a preliminary inquiry. Removing the requirement for Crown consent would reduce the number of jury trials in superior courts, promoting efficiency in the prosecution of serious cases.

RECOMMENDATION:

6) The CBA Section recommends that sections 473 and 561 be amended to allow the person on trial to elect (or re-elect) to have a judge-alone trial in murder cases without the consent of the Attorney General.

StatsCan, "Adult criminal court processing times, Canada, 2015/2016", http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/85-002-x/2018001/article/54900-eng.htm.

⁴² *R. v. Turpin*, [1989] 1 S.C.R. 1296 at 1313-1316.

VIII. VIDEO CONFERENCING AND TECHNOLOGY

Bill C-75 would increase the use of technology to facilitate remote attendance by any person in a proceeding through:

- changes to the wording of sections which already allow for the use of audioconferencing or videoconferencing; and
- adding Part XXII.01, entitled "Remote Attendance by Certain Persons", to allow an accused, participants and the Judge or Justice to appear by way of audioconference or videoconference.

We have two suggestions to improve the new Part XXII.01. First, the reasons requirement under sections 715.23(2), 715.25(3) and 715.26(2) should be removed. Second, the new Part should generally apply only to non-contentious hearings.

Sections 715.23(1), 715.25(2) and 715.26(1) list circumstances that shall be taken into account by decision-makers in determining when remote attendance is appropriate. As drafted, the Part requires a judge or justice to record reasons for denying a motion to appear electronically (sections 715.23(2), 715.25(3) and 715.26(2)). These sections appear to reverse the presumption of personal appearance (section 715.21), suggesting that remote attendance should be the norm, unless the judge or justice decides otherwise and records reasons to that effect. We recommend that the sections requiring reasons be removed (sections 715.23(2), 715.25(3) and 715.26(2)), to eliminate any contradiction or confusion.

In addition, Part XXII.01 does not distinguish between the appearances or parts of the proceeding that would be prioritized for remote attendance. In our view, remote appearances – and more generally Part XXII.01– should be favoured for non-contentious matters. Examples would include hearings that are *pro forma*, or deal with case management, arraignment, and/or the restitution of goods seized. These hearings are usually procedural and do not require the person on trial, judge or justice's physical presence. The CBA Section believes that for contentious hearings, the judge should assess all the circumstances to decide if witnesses can testify by videoconference, but the general principle should remain that the person on trial, judge and witness be present.

A. Technological Resources Need to Keep Pace with Law Reform

It is desirable, whenever possible, to facilitate the use of technology to promote access to justice, as long as the fair trial rights of the accused are properly safeguarded. However, many Canadian communities are not currently equipped for the type of remote appearances contemplated in Part

XXII.01. Many communities that stand to benefit most from remote appearances lack the infrastructure and technology to allow for such procedures. For instance, in Whitehorse, a new facility was built with only two meeting rooms in the entire facility. Access to broadband internet in Canada's northern communities is generally quite limited.⁴³ In some parts of the country, courts only sit on certain days and may not even have teleconference capabilities.

In its report, *Delaying Justice is Denying Justice*, the Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs recommended that the "Minister of Justice ensure that resources are invested in technological solutions to the problems presented by small, scattered populations in remote and isolated communities." The CBA Section echoes the Senate Committee's recommendation.

B. Telecommunications that Produce a Writing

Bill C-75 proposes reforms to embrace technology in the courtroom setting. A further suggestion to facilitate access to justice and reduce court delays would be to allow court appearances via email, or what the *Criminal Code* terms "telecommunications that produce writing".

Currently, many routine appearances require the attendance of the judge, lawyers and sometimes witnesses and other court staff. If lawyers were able to communicate directly with court staff and judges by telecommunications that produce writing (i.e. email), these routine appearances could be removed from the court docket. Designating counsel, setting a *pro forma* date, requesting or granting an adjournment and providing disclosure are examples of court appearances that could be conducted electronically, saving court time and resources. This proposal was first introduced by the CBA Section at the Senate Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs hearings on delays and was adopted by that Committee in its final report.⁴⁵

RECOMMENDATIONS:

- 7) The CBA Section recommends that sections 715.23(2), 715.25(3) and 715.26(2) be amended to delete the requirement for reasons when denying an application for electronic appearances.
- 8) The CBA Section recommends that Part XXII.01 be limited to non-contentious hearings.

^{43 &}lt;u>www.theglobeandmail.com</u>.

https://sencanada.ca/content/sen/committee/421/LCIC/Reports/Court_Delays_Final_Report_e.pdf.

CBA Criminal Justice Section, *Study on matters pertaining to delays in Canada's criminal justice system* (Ottawa: CBA, 2016).

9) The CBA Section recommends that the *Criminal Code* be amended to allow counsel to appear by way of email (or a "telecommunication that produces writing") for non-contentious hearings.

IX. OMNIBUS LEGISLATION

As noted in our introduction, Bill C-75 is omnibus legislation. Before turning to the aspects of Bill C-75 unconnected to court delays, we wish to comment about the general nature of this legislation.

The CBA Section has, like the current federal government, publicly criticized the practice of enacting criminal justice reform through omnibus legislation. The Prime Minister expressed his commitment to avoid such legislation in the 2015 Mandate Letter to the Leader of the House of Commons, which included the direction to:

Change the House of Commons Standing Orders to end the improper use of omnibus bills and prorogation.

The CBA Section has frequently commented on this legislative practice. In 2011, commenting on Bill C-10, the so-called *Safer Communities Act*, we expressed our concerns this way:

The CBA Section is of the view that bundling several critical and entirely distinct criminal justice initiatives into one omnibus Bill is inappropriate, and not in the spirit of Canada's democratic process...some of these initiatives have received no Parliamentary committee consideration to date, yet contain fundamental shifts in Canada's approach to criminal law and the treatment of offenders. Even without an arbitrary 100 day deadline for passage, it is unrealistic to expect that, as part of a huge legislative package, those unstudied proposals will receive the detailed and careful consideration that is appropriate when considering significant legislative change.⁴⁶

We reiterate these general concerns. Bill C-75 introduces numerous important reforms to the criminal justice system, many of which are unrelated. Each of these areas should be subject to rigorous debate and study. The CBA Section discourages the use of omnibus legislation, as it has the effect of hindering informed and reasoned debate. Indeed, parties have been limited to 10-page written submissions on a Bill over 300 pages in length with changes to at least a dozen discrete aspects of the *Criminal Code*. It is difficult to have meaningful input with that limitation.

⁴⁶ CBA Submission responding to Bill C-10, Safe Streets and Communities Act (Ottawa: CBA, 2011) at 2.

X. PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES

Bill C-75 would change the jury selection process in four significant ways:

- abolish peremptory challenges;
- alter the challenge for cause process;
- allow judges to stand aside potential jurors in order to "maintain public confidence in the administration of justice"; and
- allow trials to continue by judge alone, with the consent of the parties, where the number of jurors is reduced below 10.

A. Abolishing Peremptory Challenges

Bill C-75 would eliminate the peremptory challenge process. Peremptory challenges give the person on trial and the Crown an equal opportunity to cause a certain number of prospective jurors to be excused. These challenges are "peremptory" in the sense that they are granted as of right and without obliging the challenging party to give a reason.

This proposal appears to respond directly to the controversy surrounding the verdict in *R. v. Stanley*, where Gerald Stanley, a white man, was acquitted of the second-degree murder of an Indigenous man, Colton Boushie. It was widely reported that Stanley used the peremptory challenge process to secure an "all-white" jury. In the immediate aftermath of the verdict, two ideas were frequently repeated: that Stanley should have been convicted; and a more ethnically diverse jury would have convicted him.

The presumption of innocence requires the Crown to prove a person on trial guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, based on admissible evidence. The law requires the jury to judge the case based solely on the evidence presented, rather than sympathies or prejudices toward the person on trial. Jurors take an oath to bind their conscience to this task. Assuming jurors are able to be true to this oath, the verdict should ideally be the same regardless of the jury's racial makeup.

The CBA Section recognizes the concern that peremptory challenges may be misused to discriminate against Indigenous people. However, proposed remedies must not themselves deprive Indigenous people of tools to obtain a representative jury.

The overrepresentation of Indigenous people in the criminal justice system is a fact.⁴⁷ If an Indigenous person in Canada is in the unenviable position of having to pick a jury, the process of the *voir dire* and

⁴⁷ R. v. Gladue, [1999] 1 S.C.R. 688.

challenge for cause may be insufficient to protect that person from potential bias. One goal of the peremptory challenge is to eliminate jurors who a person on trial feels may have biases against him or her. Removing peremptory challenges will deprive Indigenous people and other vulnerable, marginalized groups of a valuable and well-used tool for mitigating the potential for a biased verdict.

In his 2013 study of the Ontario jury system ⁴⁸, the Honourable Frank Iaccobucci recognized the problem of peremptory challenges being used to exclude Indigenous people from juries. Still, he did not recommend that peremptory challenges be abolished altogether, but simply that the *Criminal Code* be amended "to prevent the use of peremptory challenges to discriminate against First Nations people serving on juries". ⁴⁹ The recommendation acknowledges that peremptory challenges, with certain adjustments, have a valuable function in the Canadian justice system.

Eliminating peremptory challenges for both Crown and defence will not necessarily result in more diverse juries. In many jurisdictions, jury rolls are populated by names from the Provincial Health Care databases. With universal health care, all residents' names are captured in that database. However, in Ontario, the rolls are populated using municipal enumeration lists. This is a smaller pool of potential jurors and eliminating peremptory challenges will not diversify the jury pool.

For these reasons, the CBA Section recommends further study to determine whether a change to the peremptory challenge system is needed, and if so, what form it should take.

B. Challenge for Cause Process

Bill C-75 would alter the challenge for cause process. Challenges for cause give both the Crown and the person on trial an opportunity to have a prospective juror excused for a pre-existing bias that could affect their ability to render a just verdict. A judge may order a challenge for cause to proceed when there is realistic potential for partiality based on a finding of widespread racial bias in the community where the offence took place. Where this threshold is met, the judge asks predetermined questions to prospective jurors to determine whether such a bias exists.

Currently, members of the jury panel are tasked to determine whether a prospective juror is qualified to serve. Bill C-75 would take the decision-making process from the jury panel and assign it to the trial judge.

Report of the Independent Review conducted by The Hon. Frank Iacobucci, *First Nations Representation on Ontario Juries* (Toronto: ON AG, February 2013) [*Iacobucci Report*].

⁴⁹ *Ibid.* at para. 44.

⁵⁰ *R v. Williams*, [1998] S.C.J. No. 49.

The rationale for this proposal is unclear. Most judges in Canada remain white people of higher socioeconomic standing and the amendment would make it less likely that the challenge for cause will be decided by an Indigenous or racialized person, or someone with limited financial means. This seems contrary to the concerns behind the public outcry arising from the *Stanley* verdict.

C. Public Confidence in the Administration of Justice

Currently, apart from the challenge procedures in the *Criminal Code*, the presiding judge may direct a prospective juror to be stood aside "for reasons of personal hardship or any other reasonable cause". Under Bill C-75, this would be expanded to include "maintaining public confidence in the administration of justice". This is a broad and vague power and there is no provision for the Crown or accused to participate by asking questions or making submissions. There is also no guidance on what specific process a trial judge should follow in making this determination. In essence, it appears that judges would be invited to engage in their own peremptory challenge processes.

If the government wishes to take peremptory challenges away from the parties, it seems inappropriate to then confer that right on trial judges. If the goal is to expand judges' powers to excuse jurors, for example, to ensure a jury is more diverse, that should be clearly stated in the legislation. If this proposal is enacted, we recommend that a judge should give reasons for standing aside a particular juror and afford counsel a right to make submissions. Otherwise, we expect that successful appeals will result from the exercise (or non-exercise) of this discretion by the trial judge.

D. Fewer than Ten Jurors

Currently, when the number of jurors drops below ten during a jury trial, a mistrial is declared, regardless of the wishes of the parties and the length or stage of the proceeding. Bill C-75 would allow the trial to continue as a judge-alone trial if both parties consent. In multi-month trials, juror attrition is common. This amendment is a sensible alternative that would increase the efficiency of the trial process without abrogating the constitutional right to a jury trial.

E. Conclusion Regarding Amendments to the Jury Process

Bill C-75 was introduced less than two months after the *Stanley* verdict. Some of the amendments in the Bill, especially the abolishing of peremptory challenges, seem insufficiently considered and hurried responses based on the perceived facts of the *Stanley* case.

The jury process is at the heart of the Canadian criminal justice system. Legislative reform may well be required, but should be based on empirical data generated by a thorough examination of the jury system. This government was elected on the promise of adhering to evidence-based decision-making.⁵¹ Before making significant amendments, we suggest the government should live up to that promise and put the jury system through a comprehensive examination.

There is precedent for this process. In 1980, the Law Reform Commission of Canada produced Working Paper No. 27, "The Jury in Criminal Trials"⁵² where it "reviewed the law with respect to most aspects of jury trials, explained the policy underlying the present law, set out alternative proposals, outlined the commission's provisional views for reform of the law in most areas relating to jury trials and invited comments."⁵³

The *Stanley* verdict has sparked an important conversation, but the conversation should not end with a knee-jerk legislative response. Instead, it should signal the beginning of a detailed examination of how best to improve Canada's jury system. The CBA Section recommends that the government undertake further study of this matter before making any major legislative amendments.

RECOMMENDATION:

10) The CBA Section recommends that there be further study of how best to improve Canada's jury system before any major legislative amendments in this area.

XI. RECLASSIFICATION OF OFFENCES

Bill C-75 proposes amendments which would:

- convert certain "straight indictable" offences into hybrid offences;
- lengthen the limitation period for laying summary charges to twelve months; and
- increase the maximum penalty for most summary conviction offences to two years less a day under section 787 of the *Criminal Code*.

http://www.cbc.ca/news/politics/wherry-liberals-data-1.4079609.

Law Reform Commission of Canada, *Working Paper 27: The Jury in Criminal Trials* by Chairman Francis Muldoon (Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services Canada, 1980).

Law Reform Commission of Canada, *Report 16: The Jury* by Chairman Francis Muldoon (Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services Canada, 1982).

The CBA Section supports the hybridization of offences and the lengthened limitation period for summary conviction charges. These amendments would afford Crown counsel greater discretion in how to proceed with less serious prosecutions. However, more cases will likely be heard in provincial court, the level of court where almost all criminal cases are tried. This may result in further delays, unless more judges and court resources are allocated to accommodate the increase in summary cases.

The CBA Section generally supports standardizing the maximum sentence for summary conviction offences. However, we see two unintended results that could flow from increasing the maximum sentence to two years less a day.

A. Access to Justice and Section 802.1

Increasing the maximum sentence for summary convictions would likely have an adverse impact on access to justice. Currently, under section 802.1 of the *Criminal Code*, agents may not examine or cross-examine witnesses on behalf of a person where that person is liable to a term of imprisonment of *more than six months* (unless authorized to do so by a provincial program approved by the lieutenant governor in council). In practice, agents including students doing *pro bono* work with legal clinics cannot represent people charged with summary conviction offences that carry a maximum sentence of more than six months. These so-called "super summary offences" typically carry a maximum term of 18 months imprisonment (e.g. breach of probation under section 733.1).

By creating a maximum term of two years less a day for summary offences, Bill C-75 would hinder many people from getting help from law school clinics and other organizations that offer *pro bono* legal services.⁵⁴ Many people are already disqualified under legal aid programs because they make a modest income or minimum wage (e.g. in British Columbia, people who make more than about \$22,000 in gross annual income are disqualified from legal aid).

The proposed reform of section 787 would negatively affect the working poor in their ability to obtain legal assistance. This was undoubtedly not the government's intent in standardizing the maximum term of imprisonment for summary conviction offences, and could be remedied by amending section 802.1 to reflect the new maximum term for summary offences.

For example, see Jacques Gallant, "How the underfunding of legal aid is clogging up the justice system" July 9, 2018 *Toronto Star*.

B. Inflationary Sentences

Increasing the maximum term of imprisonment for summary convictions may also create an "inflationary ceiling" on sentences. This is analogous to the "inflationary floor" effect of mandatory minimum sentences, which courts have been cautious to adopt in the past.⁵⁵

Sentencing case law for summary conviction offences has been based on the maximum sentences currently available. With a sudden significant increase in the possible sentence – for example, from six months to two years less a day for assault – we see a risk that sentences will begin to inflate over time, even though this may not be Parliament's intent. This trend would be inconsistent with the Supreme Court of Canada decision in *R. v. Solowan*, which discouraged "scaling up" and "scaling down" sentences on the basis of the Crown's election. ⁵⁶

To ensure that the intent of standardizing the maximum sentence for summary offences is clearly communicated to the courts, the CBA Section recommends a "for greater certainty" clause be added to section 787. This could clarify that the increase in the maximum sentence for summary conviction offences does not mean that these matters are to be treated more punitively going forward.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

- 11) The CBA Section recommends that section 802.1 be amended to reflect the new maximum sentence for summary conviction offences.
- 12) The CBA Section recommends the enactment of a "for greater certainty" clause to ensure that the standardization of summary sentences does not create an "increased ceiling" effect.

XII. INTIMATE PARTNER VIOLENCE

Bill C-75 incorporates the concept of "intimate partner" into the *Criminal Code*, and proposes changes to the bail and sentencing phases of cases involving domestic violence.

A. Intimate Partner

Bill C-75 adds the definition of intimate partner to section 2 of the *Criminal Code*. The CBA Section believes this will aid in clarifying:

⁵⁵ *R. v. Lloyd*, 2014 BCCA 224 at paras. 48-58.

⁵⁶ 2008 SCC 62.

- the jurisdiction of specialized domestic violence courts throughout the country, ensuring uniformity in the prosecution of these offences; and
- that an intimate partner includes a former spouse or common law partner, which will ensure uniform application of the law to all spouses, current and former.

However, the CBA Section is concerned about including "dating partner" in the definition of "intimate partner", given the vagueness of the term. Unlike spouse or common-law partner, "dating partner" does not have a legal definition and does not necessarily mean an intimate partner. On the other hand, the French definition "partenaire amoureux" does imply an intimate partner. Even if the French definition were to prevail, it is unclear whether one intimate encounter would make someone a dating partner, or whether more would be required.

An offence committed against a common-law partner or spouse is aggravated because it represents a breach of trust. Not all dating relationships involve a relationship of trust, particularly where they are short or sporadic in duration. Given the significant bail and sentencing changes proposed in Bill C-75 for intimate partner violence, the term "intimate partner" must be limited to those individuals who by virtue of their relationship with the accused were in a vulnerable position). Including "dating partner" could cause delays at both the bail and trial stages, while that term is litigated. Litigation will cause inconsistent application of the law for some time until appellate courts interpret the term.

We recommend that "dating partner" be omitted from the definition of intimate partner.

B. Bail Amendments

Bill C-75 proposes that a judge must consider two factors in determining whether release should be ordered, as well as the terms of the release:

- (3) In making an order under this section, the justice shall consider any relevant factors, including,
 - (a) whether the accused is charged with an offence in the commission of which violence was used, threatened or attempted against their intimate partner; or
 - (b) whether the accused has been previously convicted of a criminal offence.

These factors are rationally connected to the secondary ground enunciated in section 515(10), and we support their inclusion. Despite the criminal charge and its potentially aggravated nature, intimate partners may still need ongoing contact during the criminal matter. For example, the partners may have children or may need to discuss financial issues. Judges must fashion releases that address any need for ongoing contact between the parties, while ensuring the safety of the complainant.

Similarly, the criminal record of a person on trial is rationally connected to determining whether or not that person will commit further offences if released. Even those convicted of multiple offences in the past are presumed innocent, but a criminal record, especially for an offence related to the current charge, is probative to the secondary ground.

Bill C-75 also proposes that, where a person in a domestic violence case has been convicted of a previous domestic violence offence, there will be a reverse onus when seeking release from custody. The CBA Section does not support the reverse onus for the following reasons:

- 1. It is unnecessary from a practical perspective. The amended section 515(3) already requires a justice to specifically consider the same factors. Weighing these factors will likely result in the same outcome regardless of who bears the onus. For example, if the prior convictions are quite dated, then even with a reverse onus, the detainee would likely be released. On the other hand, a recent conviction for a similar offence, or against the same complainant, would likely result in a detention order, even if the Crown bore the onus.
- 2. A reverse onus in the intimate partner context would likely be subject to serious constitutional scrutiny. It is true that reverse onus provisions have been constitutionally upheld in other contexts including drug trafficking offences: see *R. v. Pearson*⁵⁷ and *R. v. Morales*. However, those provisions were upheld on the basis of unique features of those offences, which do not apply in the intimate partner violence context.
 - For example, trafficking in narcotics is highly lucrative, creating huge incentives for an offender to continue criminal behaviour even after arrest and release on bail. This justification for the reverse onus at issue in trafficking cases arguably does not apply in domestic violence cases.
- 3. The creation of a new reverse onus provision runs contrary to other amendments in Bill C-75 aimed at encouraging the release of those presumed innocent, particularly those historically at a disadvantage in obtaining their release. Given the great increase of people detained in pretrial custody, the CBA Section discourages the use of reverse onus provisions generally, in part, because of their disproportionate effect on Indigenous accused. 59

C. Offence of 'Choking'

Bill C-75 would change sections 267 and 272 to deem any choking during an assault or sexual assault to constitute a separate offence, whether or not bodily harm was established by the evidence. The CBA Section opposes this amendment for the following reasons:

⁵⁷ [1992] 3 S.C.R. 665.

⁵⁸ [1992] 3 S.C.R. 711.

⁵⁹ 2014 Canadian Civil Liberties Association, *Set Up to Fail: Bail and the Revolving Door of Pre-trial Detention;* 2013 John Howard Society of Ontario, *Reasonable Bail?*

- The aggravating feature of choking or strangling a victim can already be addressed by prosecution under section 246, the offence of choking someone with the intent to commit an indictable offence.
- Where choking causes bodily harm, it is already captured under the existing versions of sections 267 and 272.
- The effect of choking on the complainant already can be taken into account as an aggravating factor on sentencing.
- Deeming all choking, whether it was a transient or trifling, as akin to causing bodily harm could be considered overbroad and in violation of section 7 of the *Charter*.

D. Abuse of an Intimate Partner as an Aggravating Feature on Sentencing

Bill C-75 would add abuse of an intimate partner as an aggravating feature on sentencing. Currently section 718.2(a)(ii) only deems an assault of a current spouse or common law partner as an aggravating feature on sentence. The CBA Section supports extending that rationale to former spouses as contemplated in the definition of intimate partner, recognizing that the same dynamic can exist after a couple breaks up. For the reasons outlined earlier, however, we suggest not extending this principle to dating partners.

E. Creating a "Supermax" Penalty

Bill C-75 would amend section 718.3 to create an escalating system of maximum sentences for accused persons convicted of multiple offences against intimate partners. Such regimes are sometimes referred to as "supermax" penalties.

The CBA Section does not support the amendments to create supermax sentences. Evidence indicates that Canada already over-incarcerates its citizens, in particular, vulnerable people, Indigenous people and racial minorities. Without evidence that the current maximum sentences are insufficient to separate offenders from society when required, we believe that supermax sentences would be crushing sentences for these same populations. Multiple convictions are already considered aggravating, particularly when they relate to the same offence or type of offence. The fact that the offence occurred in the context of a domestic relationship is a codified aggravating factor on sentence. In other words, the aggravated nature of multiple domestic violence convictions is already addressed and there is no need to create a supermax regime.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

- 13) The CBA Section recommends that the term "intimate partner" should not include "dating partner" or "partenaire amoureux".
- 14) The CBA Section recommends that the proposed reverse onus in section 515(6)(b.1) be deleted from Bill C-75.
- 15) The CBA Section recommends that clauses 95, 99 and 297 ("choking" and "supermax" penalties) be deleted from Bill C-75.

XIII. VICTIM FINE SURCHARGE

The CBA Section supports victim surcharges, money collected through sentencing for *Criminal Code* and *Controlled Drug and Substance Act* offences. These funds can support programs to assist victims of crime, for example, by providing counseling services or aiding in understanding the justice system and the court process.

Following Bill C-37 amendments in 2013,⁶¹ section 737 of the *Criminal Code* requires sentencing judges to impose a 30% victim surcharge in addition to any fine imposed. This surcharge may be increased if the judge considers it appropriate and the offender is able to pay more. In cases where no fine is ordered, a sentencing judge must impose a \$100 surcharge for summary conviction matters and \$200 for indictable matters.

In addition to doubling the surcharge, Bill C-37 removed judges' discretion to exempt offenders from the surcharge where it would impose hardship. Victim surcharges can no longer be waived even if a fine would cause undue hardship to the offender or the offender's dependents. Failing to pay the surcharge can result in penalties such as licence suspension, in addition to imprisonment.

As was widely predicted,⁶² this change resulted in serious hardship for many offenders and their families. It also led to unusual results. Some judges imposed nominal fines on top of other penalties (for example a one dollar fine so the victim fine surcharge was, at 30% of the fine, 30 cents) or granted extended periods to pay.

Bill C-75 would reinstate judicial discretion so, in cases where it would cause undue hardship to an offender, a judge may exempt the offender from paying the fine. It is essential to a fair justice system

^{61 &}lt;u>Bill C-37</u>, Increasing Offenders' Accountability for Victims Act.

As one example, see submission of CBA Criminal Justice Section on Bill C-37 (Ottawa: CBA, 2013).

that judges are able to use their discretion to consider all the individual circumstances, including the offender's ability to pay a fine.

We support this aspect of Bill C-75. It would restore compliance with fundamental principles of sentencing by allowing judges to tailor penalties to individual offenders and offences. People experiencing poverty, mental illness or cognitive disabilities are often unable to pay even a modest sum and have suffered disproportionately because of Bill C-37.

The Bill would also require the imposition of the victim fine surcharge for each offence, except "for certain administration of justice offences if the total amount of surcharges imposed on an offender for these types of offences would be disproportionate in the circumstances" (737 (1.1)).⁶³ If the total amount of surcharges is disproportionate to the offender's ability to pay, exemptions should be available without regard to the nature of the offence. For example, if multiple summary conviction offences for mischief were added to three indictable offences for theft over, a surcharge of about \$1000 could be owing. The judge should be able to waive all or some of the surcharge if that achieves a fair result in the circumstances.

Finally, some regions have programs to allow offenders to work off any fines. This option should be more uniformly available in all regions.

XIV. HUMAN TRAFFICKING

Bill C-75 would make some changes to the offence of human trafficking first proposed in Bill C-452,⁶⁴ creating a rebuttable presumption against the person on trial and requiring any sentence to be served consecutively.

Currently, to establish the offence of human trafficking, the Crown must, among other things, prove two main elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

- 1. that the person on trial recruited, transported, transferred, received, held, concealed or harboured a person, *or* exercised control, direction or influence over the movements of a person; *and*
- 2. for the purpose of exploiting that person *or* facilitating their exploitation.

From the Summary to <u>Bill C-28</u>, at (b).

⁶⁴ See Bill C-452.

The offence is committed where the accused exercises control over another person *for the purpose* of exploitation.⁶⁵ No consent is valid in these circumstances (see, sections 279.01(2) and 279.011(2)).

Bill C-75 would amend section 279.01 to create a rebuttable presumption of guilt against any person who lives with or is habitually in the company of a person who is exploited, but who is not themselves exploited. This presumption tracks the language of the presumption related to living off of the avails of prostitution under former section 212(3) of the *Criminal Code*. 66 The Crown would only need to prove that the alleged victim was exploited by someone, and that the person on trial lived with, or was habitually in the company of the victim. In other words, the Crown would *not* have to prove that the accused *actually* exercised control, direction or influence over the movements of the alleged victim for the purpose of exploiting them or facilitating their exploitation. The person on trial would be required to provide evidence that there was no exercise of control, direction or influence over the movements of the alleged victim, or that any exercise of control was not for the purpose of exploiting the victim or facilitating the victim's exploitation.

The CBA Section believes that this proposal reintroduced in Bill C-75 should not be adopted, for the reasons given in our submissions on Bill C-452 in December 2014.⁶⁷ The proposed presumption does *not* require proof that the person on trial intended to participate in the victim's exploitation, or had any knowledge of the exploitation. Further, the presumption applies even if that person had no involvement in the actual exploitation of the victim. Given the serious nature of this offence and the penalties and stigma associated with it, the presumption would likely be found unconstitutional as an infringement of the right to be presumed innocent under section 11(d) of the *Charter*. The presumption is unlikely to be saved under section 1 of the *Charter*, as it would criminalize people other than those who exploit the vulnerable.

Exploitation is defined in section 279.04 as causing a person to provide, or offer to provide, labour or a service by engaging in conduct that, in all the circumstances, could reasonably be expected to cause the person to believe that their safety or the safety of a person known to them would be threatened if they fail to provide, or offer to provide, the labour or service.

This offence was recently found to be unconstitutional in *Canada (Attorney General) v. Bedford*, 2013 SCC 72. The presumption in section 212 (formerly section 195) had been previously upheld by the Supreme Court of Canada in *R. v. Downey* (1992), 72 C.C.C. (3d) 1. Critically, however, the wording of section 212 did not create a presumption of control or exploitation by merely living with or habitually being in the company of a sex trade worker. The presumption merely related to the more logical deduction that if one lives with a sex trade worker, they are likely living off of the avails of that individual's work. Conversely, Bill C-75 proposes a presumption of exploitation *and* control by virtue of merely living with or habitually being in the company of someone who is exploited.

⁶⁷ Bill C-452 (Ottawa: CBA, 2014).

RECOMMENDATION:

16) The CBA Section recommends that clause 389 (enacting of the rebuttable presumption in human trafficking cases) be deleted from Bill C-75.

XV. YOUTH CRIMINAL JUSTICE ACT

Amendments to the *Youth Criminal Justice Act* (YCJA) are in clauses 364 – 386 of Bill C-75. Most of the proposed amendments would help ensure that the YCJA is internally consistent, direct decision makers to ensure that its principles are upheld, and respond to Canada's international obligations under the United Nations *Convention on the Rights of the Child* and the United Nations *Minimum Standards for the Administration of Juvenile Justice*.

The amendments appear to be focused on unburdening the criminal justice system by eliminating administration of justice offences (sections 4.1 and 24.1). The proposals would direct police and prosecution agencies toward Extra Judicial Sanctions (EJS) for failures to comply, except failures causing harm or risk of harm to the public. There are also proposed restrictions on imposing conditions of release and probation, including an expansion of the principle *not* to use custody to address social issues. We support these amendments.

There are "housekeeping" amendments to make the YCJA consistent with the proposed *Criminal Code* amendments in the Bill, limiting pretrial detention for administration of justice offences. Other amendments would remove the requirement that Attorneys General consider adult sentences, and would repeal the section permitting publication of certain young offenders' names. We support these amendments as well.

A. Youth Records

Bill C-75 would strengthen and clarify rules for the disposal and destruction of youth records. Currently, there does not seem to be any explicit direction to police agencies to destroy youth records or not use them.

The records provisions in Part 6 of the YCJA are dense and complex. While there are clear limitations on access periods under section 119(2), and some requirements for destruction, disparity exists in the practices of record-holders, especially police. There are many instances of youth records being disclosed long after they should have been destroyed or archived. This results in negative consequences for young people, including those who have rehabilitated and reintegrated into society.

To rectify this, the government should consider amending section 128 to require the destruction of all records kept pursuant to sections 114-116 once their access periods have expired.

RECOMMENDATION:

17) The CBA Section recommends amending the YCJA to better ensure that youth records are not disclosed after their access periods have expired.

XVI. CONCLUSION

The CBA Section appreciates the opportunity to comment on Bill C-75. While we support aspects of this omnibus criminal justice legislation, we consider other parts likely to attract constitutional scrutiny, as they are not grounded in evidence and are apt to contribute to, rather than alleviate, court delays.

More work remains to be done to ensure our system becomes efficient and fair to all participants. The CBA Section notes the conspicuous absence of any meaningful reform to sentencing laws, particularly mandatory minimum sentences and the unavailability of Conditional Sentence Orders. We look forward to proposals addressing these important issues. They have a significant impact on the effectiveness of the criminal justice system, and to ignore them is a disservice to all Canadians.

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS:

- The CBA Section recommends clarifying the language of section 523.1(3) to ensure that breaches unrelated to the victim are not disqualified from proceeding to a judicial referral hearing.
- 2. The CBA Section recommends that Crown counsel policy manuals be amended to encourage the use of judicial referral hearings under section 523.1.
- 3. The CBA Section recommends amending section 523.1(3) to remove the disqualification due to "emotional harm," "economic loss," and "property damage".
- 4. The CBA Section recommends that section 657.01 and all amendments related to it be omitted from Bill C-75.
- 5. The CBA Section recommends that eligibility for preliminary inquiries remain unchanged. In the alternative, if amended, preliminary inquiries should remain available where the parties consent, where a preliminary inquiry would be in the interests of justice having regard to a series of factors, and/or where the maximum penalty is life imprisonment.
- 6. The CBA Section recommends that sections 473 and 561 be amended to allow the person on trial to elect (or re-elect) to have a judge-alone trial in murder cases without the consent of the Attorney General.
- 7. The CBA Section recommends that sections 715.23(2), 715.25(3) and 715.26(2) be amended to delete the requirement for reasons when denying an application for electronic appearances.
- 8. The CBA Section recommends that Part XXII.01 be limited to non-contentious hearings.
- 9. The CBA Section recommends that the *Criminal Code* be amended to allow counsel to appear by way of email (or a "telecommunication that produces writing") for non-contentious hearings.
- 10. The CBA Section recommends that there be further study of how best to improve Canada's jury system before any major legislative amendments in this area.
- 11. The CBA Section recommends that section 802.1 be amended to reflect the new maximum sentence for summary conviction offences.

- 12. The CBA Section recommends the enactment of a "for greater certainty" clause to ensure that the standardization of summary sentences does not create an "increased ceiling" effect.
- 13. The CBA Section recommends that the term "intimate partner" should not include "dating partner" or "partenaire amoureux".
- 14. The CBA Section recommends that the proposed reverse onus in section 515(6)(b.1) be deleted from Bill C-75.
- 15. The CBA Section recommends that clauses 95, 99 and 297 ("choking" and "supermax" penalties) be deleted from Bill C-75.
- 16. The CBA Section recommends that clause 389 (enacting of the rebuttable presumption in human trafficking cases) be deleted from Bill C-75.
- 17. The CBA Section recommends amending the YCJA to better ensure that youth records are not disclosed after their access periods have expired.